RECEIVED

Nov 18 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MARKESE CHRISTOPHER WILSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-001425

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SARAH E. SHIPE
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court reversibly erred in denying appellant's motion for a mistrial where the state elicited improper character evidence testimony and failed to present competent evidence in order to conclusively prove appellant's guilt?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 10, 2020, appellant was indicted by a Lexington County grand jury for assault and battery, first degree, burglary, first degree, armed robbery, kidnapping, safecracking, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 630. Appellant was tried October 12-16, 2020, before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., and a jury. R. 1. Robert Williams, Sr., and Benjamin Stitely represented appellant. R. 1. Christopher Scott, deputy solicitor, and Margaret Boykin, assistant solicitor represented the state. R. 1.

On October 15, 2020, Judge Griffith declared a mistrial as to the offense of assault and battery, first degree. R. 596, l. 13-597, l. 12. The jury found appellant guilty of burglary, first degree, armed robbery, kidnapping, safecracking, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 597. On October 16, 2020, Judge Griffith sentenced appellant to an aggregate term of thirty-five years' imprisonment. R. 621.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial judge's decision denying a mistrial will be reversed on appeal if the denial amounts to an abuse of discretion. *State v. Rowlands*, 343 S.C. 454, 458, 539 S.E.2d 717, 719 (Ct. App. 2000). “Whether a mistrial is manifestly necessary is a fact specific inquiry. It is not a mechanically applied standard, but rather is a determination that must be made in the context of the specific difficulty facing the trial judge.” *Id.* at 457–58, 539 S.E.2d at 719 (internal quotations and citations omitted).

ARGUMENT

The trial court reversibly erred in denying appellant's motion for a mistrial where the state elicited improper character evidence testimony and failed to present competent evidence in order to conclusively prove appellant's guilt.

Relevant facts

On January 21, 2019, two masked men wearing all black entered the home of Kathy Samellas, demanding that she tell them where her safe was. While one man held Samellas at gunpoint, the other searched the home for the safe. The men left Samellas' home taking with them the contents of the safe, one hundred thousand dollars and jewelry worth thirty-five thousand dollars, as well as Samellas' cell phone and one of the handsets to her landline. R. 48, ll. 1-11; 50, ll. 13-20. Samellas complained of a head injury, and EMS checked her out, but she did not receive any further medical treatment. R. 49, ll. 17-23.

In April, Andre McFadden, Shyrod Wannamaker, and Brittany Whitmore, McFadden's girlfriend, were arrested for attempting a different home invasion and robbery. McFadden's phone was seized, and law enforcement conducted a search of the contents of his phone. R. 120, ll. 12-25; 410, 9-25. Photographs and videos discovered on McFadden's cell phone from the evening of January 21, 2019, showed McFadden, Wannamaker, and appellant holding cash and discussing a "hundred band lick."¹ R. 227-228. McFadden and Wannamaker initially denied involvement in the home invasion of Kathy Samellas, but both later confessed to police and implicated appellant. R. 275, ll. 1-13; 366, l. 18-367, l. 16.

Wannamaker and McFadden were indicted for assault and battery, first degree, burglary, first degree, armed robbery, kidnapping, safecracking, and possession of a weapon during the

¹ Wannamaker explained at trial that a "band" is a thousand dollars and a "lick" is a robbery. R. 228, ll. 12-17.

commission of a violent crime. Whitmore was initially charged with armed robbery and burglary first degree and later pled guilty to accessory after the fact to a felony.² R. 409, l. 3; 410, ll. 10-25.

At trial, Wannamaker testified that McFadden received information from an individual who worked in Samellas' home that there was a substantial amount of cash in the closet of one of Samellas' bedrooms. R. 204, l. 6-205, l. 5. Wannamaker said McFadden and appellant drove from McFadden's home in St. Matthews and picked him up at his mother's home in Columbia, not far from the Samellas residence. R. 202, ll. 2-24. McFadden drove them to Samellas' neighborhood where Wannamaker said that he and appellant were dropped off near Samellas' house. R. 209, l. 1-210, l. 7.

Wannamaker alleged appellant kicked in Samellas' door and began demanding she tell them where her safe was. Wannamaker claimed his involvement was limited to holding Samellas at gunpoint while appellant found the safe and emptied the contents into a pillowcase. Wannamaker said they left the house, he called McFadden to come and get them, and they proceeded to McFadden's trailer in St. Matthews. R. 212-19.

While at McFadden's trailer the three men counted and divided the money between themselves before going their separate ways. R. 264, ll. 9-22. Wannamaker also admitted they took photographs and videos with the stolen cash. R. 227-28.

During his testimony, Wannamaker was asked about the subsequent attempted robbery for which he was arrested. When asked if appellant was involved, Wannamaker responded, "[n]o sir, he was in jail." R. 240, ll. 8-14. Defense counsel objected, and the court sent the jury

² Whitmore claimed at trial that she did not know anything about the Samellas robbery until later and her involvement was limited to advising McFadden to exchange some of the older large bills for newer bills at the bank. R. 408, l. 7-409, l. 14.

out. Defense counsel moved for a mistrial, arguing the state elicited improper character evidence testimony. R. 240, ll. 15-25. Defense counsel asserted it was improper for the state to put appellant's character and credibility before the jury when appellant had not testified, and the defense had not opened the door to character evidence. R. 240, ll. 1-9.

The solicitor responded arguing defense counsel agreed to allow State's exhibit 59, a flash drive of the data recovered from McFadden's phone, which contained pictures and videos of appellant in jail, and a text conversation about appellant having been in jail. The solicitor averred the jury was entitled to view everything on the flash drive, and therefore, defense counsel could not complain about Wannamaker's testimony. However, the solicitor agreed not to go into any more detail regarding appellant's prior arrest. R. 245, ll. 4-5; 19-24.

The court did not declare a mistrial but agreed Wannamaker's testimony was "not appropriate." R. 243, ll. 15-16; 245, ll. 7-9; 246, l. 24. The court instructed Wannamaker not to mention appellant being in jail again. R. 247, ll. 7-8.

The court gave the jury the following curative instruction:

[J]ust prior to the break, there were some questions asked of Mr. Wannamaker about an incident in April, you were involved in an incident in West Columbia and West Columbia police arrested you as a result of an attempted armed robbery or some incident over there, and there was a follow-up question about where was [appellant], his answer was unresponsive to the question asked by the solicitor, so I'm gonna ask you to disregard his unresponsive answer. And I'm not gonna repeat it because then you would go I wonder why he did that. So the answer was not responsive, not relevant to you-all's decision making which you all have to do, but Mr. Wannamaker will be back on the stand.

R. 251, ll. 6-19.

Before Wannamaker's testimony continued the following day, the defense made a motion requesting that the flash drive containing the entire contents of McFadden's cell phone not go

back to the jury and that only the exhibits published from the flash drive be accessible to the jury during its deliberation. R. 253-54. The solicitor agreed, stating the flash drive was only introduced to lay a foundation for certain exhibits. R. 254, ll. 16-19.

McFadden testified that on the day of the incident he and his girlfriend, Brittany Whitmore, drove from St. Matthews to Columbia to go to the mall and returned to St. Matthews by four o'clock. R. 321-23. McFadden claimed he and appellant drove back to Columbia to pick up Wannamaker around seven o'clock. R. 326-27. McFadden denied Whitmore had anything to do with either the Samellas robbery or the subsequent attempted robbery. Although he admitted Whitmore worked at Wells Fargo in Cayce and coincidentally both Samellas and the other woman he attempted to rob in April banked at Wells Fargo. R. 358, l. 11-359, l. 6; 391-94. Whitmore claimed she knew nothing about the Samellas robbery until later and her only involvement was advising McFadden to exchange the large bills from the stolen cash. R. 408-10; 411, ll. 1-12.

The state introduced cell phone evidence that showed McFadden's and Whitmore's cell phones were using cell towers near Samellas' house in Lexington County earlier on the day of the incident. The evidence showed both of their phones used cell towers in St. Matthews later that afternoon and that McFadden's phone was again using cell towers near Samellas' residence during the time of the incident. Wannamaker's cell phone used towers close to Samellas' residence during the incident. The evidence also showed Wannamaker's phone using cell towers in St. Matthews later in the evening. Appellant's phone never traveled to Lexington County that day. His phone only used cell towers in St. Matthews and in Orangeburg, where he lived at the

time of the incident.³ R. 453-68; state's exhibit 53 on file with the Court.

At the conclusion of trial, the court declared a mistrial as to assault and battery when the jury could not come to a unanimous decision after being given an *Allen*⁴ charge. R. 592-93. The jury found appellant guilty of burglary, first degree, armed robbery, kidnapping, safecracking, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 596-97. The court sentenced appellant the following day to concurrent terms of thirty years' imprisonment for burglary, first degree, thirty years' imprisonment for armed robbery, thirty years' imprisonment for kidnapping, thirty years' imprisonment for safecracking, and a consecutive five years' imprisonment for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 621.

Discussion

“The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court. The trial court's decision will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law.” *State v. Harris*, 382 S.C. 107, 117, 674 S.E.2d 532, 537 (Ct.App.2009) (internal citations omitted). A mistrial should only be granted when absolutely necessary, and a defendant must show both error and prejudice in order to be entitled to a mistrial. *Id.* **“Insubstantial errors that do not impact the result of the case do not warrant a mistrial when guilt is conclusively proven by competent evidence.”** *State v. White*, 371 S.C. 439, 447–48, 639 S.E.2d 160, 164 (Ct. App. 2006) (emphasis added). “The determination of prejudice must be based on the entire record and the result will generally turn on the facts of each case.” *Id.* at 447, 639 S.E.2d at 164.

³ State's exhibit 53, cell phone plot animation, on file with the Court follows the location of four cell phones each denoted by a different color. Appellant's cell phone is brown. Whitemore's cellphone is yellow. McFadden's phone is teal. Wannamaker's phone is red.

⁴ *Allen v. United States*, 164 U.S. 492 (1896).

In *State v. Harris*, the Court held that the state's eliciting improper character testimony from a witness did not warrant a mistrial where the state asked a defense witness whether Harris had ever hit him in Harris's trial on the charge of murder and assault and battery with intent to kill. *Harris*, 382 S.C. at 11, 674 S.E.2d at 538. In that case, the Court found that the court's instruction to the jury to disregard the question cured any alleged error. *Id.* at 119-20, 647 S.E.2d at 538.

While this case has one similarity to *Harris*, that the error was improper character testimony, it is distinguishable. As the Court noted, the witness in *Harris* never answered the question posed by the state. Here, Wannamaker blurted out that appellant was in jail at the time that he and McFadden were attempting to rob another woman mere months after the Samellas robbery. Additionally, Harris put up a defense, and the improper character evidence testimony was elicited from a defense witness. In this case, the improper character evidence was elicited from the state's own witness, and appellant did not testify or put up a defense.

In *State v. Wilson*, the Court held the trial court's error in admitting evidence of a prior incident of domestic violence between Wilson and the victim did not prejudice Wilson. 389 S.C. 579, 698 S.E.2d 862 (Ct. App. 2010). In that case, the Court was unable to find any prejudice in the limited record before it. In this case, the record shows the state's case against appellant relied solely on the testimonies of Wannamaker and McFadden, who testified against appellant likely in an effort to receive some future benefit as neither had been tried at the time of appellant's trial.