RECEIVED

Nov 02 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County
The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001425

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

MARKESE CHRISTOPHER WILSON,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SCOTT MATTHEWS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SAMUEL R. HUBBARD, III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 East Main Street
Lexington, SC 29072
(803)-785-8352

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge properly refuse to declare a mistrial when Appellant did not preserve the issue for appeal because he expressly consented to the trial judge's curative instruction? And even if preserved, did the trial judge's curative instruction cure any possible error? Finally, was Appellant prejudiced by a single reference to Appellant's incarceration when the evidence presented against Appellant at trial was overwhelming?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In February 2020, the Lexington County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for one count of first degree burglary, one count of armed robbery, one count of kidnapping, one count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, one count of safecracking, and one count of first degree assault and battery. On October 12-16, 2020, a jury trial was held in the Lexington County Court of General Sessions with the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith presiding. Appellant was represented by Robert T. Williams, Esq. The State was represented by Assistant Solicitors Margaret Boykin and Dale Scott of the Eighth¹ Circuit Solicitor's Office. At the conclusion of trial, the jury convicted Appellant of every offense except for first degree assault and battery. The jury could not reach a verdict on first degree assault and battery and a mistrial was declared. (R. 596-97). The trial judge sentenced Appellant to thirty years' imprisonment for first degree burglary, armed robbery, kidnapping and safecracking. Each of those sentences were to run concurrently with each other. Appellant was sentenced to five years' imprisonment for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. That sentence was to run consecutively to the thirty year sentences. Therefore, Appellant was sentenced to an aggregate total of thirty-five years' imprisonment. Appellant timely filed a notice of appeal and an initial brief.

¹ The Eighth Circuit Solicitor's Office was assisting the Eleventh Circuit Solicitor's Office because Victim was closely related to an employee of the Eleventh Circuit Solicitor's Office.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In the early evening hours of January 21, 2019, deputies with the Lexington County Sheriff's Department arrived at a residence in the Quail Valley neighborhood to investigate a reported home invasion. (R. 31-32). After nightfall², Kathy Samellas³ (Victim) reported that two black male individuals with guns entered her home and demanded to know where her safe was. (R. 33, 38). The two assailants were wearing all black clothes with black and white masks and white gloves. (R. 48, 88). The two men struck Victim in the head with a gun and threatened to kill her if she did not comply with their demands. (R. 48, 89). When law enforcement arrived, Victim's safe was cracked open and mostly empty. (R. 37-38). Prior to the burglary, Victim had approximately \$100,000 in cash and \$35,000 worth of jewelry in the safe. (R. 85-86). Victim was examined by EMS personnel but ultimately sustained only a minor injury to the back of her head. (R. 49). Victim's backdoor was forcefully opened by the assailants. (R. 57-58).

On April 25, 2019, law enforcement obtained the cell phone of Andre McFadden after he and Shyrod Wannamaker were arrested in West Columbia for an attempted armed robbery. (R. 111, 120). Sergeant Anthony Creech obtained a search warrant for McFadden's phone and then extracted data from the cell phone via Cellebrite physical analyzer software. (R. 111). Creech located a video on McFadden's phone taken on January 21, 2019, which appeared to show McFadden and two other black males standing around a table with a large quantity of cash on top. One individual in the video was bragging about completing a "hundred grand lick"⁴. (R. 123-24, State's Exhibit #54). A screen shot from the video was entered into evidence. (R. 131, State's Exhibit #47). Creech also located multiple photographs on the phone of three black males

² Victim called 911 at 6:51 PM. (R. 157).

³ Victim passed away shortly before Appellant's trial. (R. 15).

⁴ McFadden and Wannamaker identified that McFadden said "one hundred band lick" in the video and that it referred to robbing someone for \$100,000. (R. 228, 318, 349).

holding large amounts of cash. (R. 124-25, State's Exhibit #37 and #38). The data on the phone revealed the photographs were taken at 8:16 PM on January 21st. (R. 125, State's Exhibit #37 and #38). Creech identified the individuals in the photo as Appellant, Wannamaker, and McFadden⁵. An additional photo of Appellant holding a large quantity of cash was found on the phone. (R. 344, State's Exhibit #36). Creech's data analysis revealed the photo was taken at 7:33 PM on January 21, 2019. (R. 126, State's Exhibit #36). A photo from a FaceTime chat between Appellant and McFadden was also located on the phone and determined to originate at 10:48 PM on January 21, 2019. (R. 127-28, 345, State's Exhibit #33). Finally, text messages between McFadden, Wannamaker, Appellant, and Maurice White⁶ were located on McFadden's phone. (R. 622-29).

After downloading the contents of McFadden's phone, law enforcement arrested McFadden and Wannamaker. Wannamaker and McFadden each spoke to law enforcement as well as McFadden's girlfriend, Brittany Whitmore. (R. 175-76, 314). After speaking with the aforementioned individuals, law enforcement obtained arrest warrants for Appellant. (R. 177). Appellant was arrested in December 2019 at his grandparent's house in Calhoun County. (R. 499-500).

Both Wannamaker and McFadden testified against Appellant at trial. According to Wannamaker, McFadden and Appellant picked him up at his mother's house in Irmo on January 21, 2019 in McFadden's grey colored Infiniti Q3. (R. 203). The trio drove to a nearby Target parking lot. (R. 203). Each of the three men was armed with a handgun. (R. 206-07).

⁵ At trial, McFadden identified the three individuals in State's Exhibit #37 and #38. The person on the left was Appellant, the person in the middle was McFadden, and the person on the right was Wannamaker. (R. 341, 343-44).

⁶ Maurice White was not charged with any offenses related to this incident.

Wannamaker testified McFadden⁷ told them about a nearby house with a large amount of money inside. (R. 204-05). According to Wannamaker, the original plan was for McFadden and Appellant to enter Victim's home. However, the plan changed when a passerby pulled behind the three men's vehicle. As a result, McFadden stayed behind the wheel while Wannamaker and Appellant exited the vehicle and proceeded to Victim's home. (R. 207-10).

Wannamaker and Appellant jumped over the fence in Victim's backyard and saw Victim through a window. (R. 210-11). The two men were not expecting anyone to be home, and Wannamaker suggested they abandon their plan. However, Appellant insisted on going forward (R. 211-12). Wannamaker testified Appellant kicked in the back door and demanded to know where the safe was located. (R. 212). Victim declined to tell Appellant where the safe was so Appellant began to search for it. (R. 214-15). Appellant found the safe and forced Victim to obtain a key to unlock the safe. (R. 215). After Victim opened the safe, Appellant dumped its contents into a pillowcase. After taking the contents of the safe, the two men took Victim's house phone and cell phone and smashed them to prevent her from calling the police. (R. 218-19). While Wannamaker and Appellant were inside Victim's home, McFadden circled the neighborhood in his car. (R. 336). McFadden received a call from Wannamaker requesting to be picked up. (R. 336-37). McFadden witnessed Appellant running with a pillowcase along with Wannamaker. (R. 337-38). Appellant got in the backseat of the car while Wannamaker sat in the passenger seat. (R. 337-38).

The three men drove from Irmo to McFadden's residence at 80 Sweetshrub Lane in St. Matthews. (R. 220, 338). When they arrived at McFadden's trailer, McFadden witnessed Appellant go to his car and retrieve his phone. (R. 339). As soon as the three men entered

⁷ McFadden heard about the money from an individual known only as D.K. D.K. heard of the money from a maid that cleaned Victim's home. (R. 204-05).

McFadden's home, Appellant dumped a large quantity of cash out of the pillowcase onto a table. (R. 221-22). Wannamaker and McFadden later referred to this moment in a series of text messages on February 20, 2019. (R. 226-27, 628). Wannamaker texted McFadden the following message "All dat shit falling out dat bag when Kese⁸ flip it was a movie." (R. 628). On January 23rd, Appellant sent a text message to Wannamaker and McFadden that said "Shut feel good to know y'all got it sutnmd. Wit me.*"(sic)(R. 625). Wannamaker understood Appellant's text message as a reference to stealing Victim's money. (R. 237). After Wannamaker and McFadden attempted to rob another woman in April 2019, Wannamaker texted McFadden the following message: "lol just push her out the damn way grab the pocket book shit me and kese did the other old lady wrong we don't care money come first." (R. 629). Wannamaker testified he was referring to him and Appellant robbing Victim. (R. 260-61, 364-65).

Law enforcement obtained phone records and GPS data for each defendants' phone, as well as Brittany Whitmore. According to GPS data, appellant's phone stayed in St. Matthews during the hours of the robbery. (R. 174). At approximately 6:15 PM, Appellant and Whitmore's phones were using cell phone towers in St. Matthews while Wannamaker and McFadden were using cell phone towers in the Harbison area of Irmo. (R. 463). By 7:30 PM, McFadden and Wannamaker's phones had returned to St. Matthews. (R. 463-64). From 5:11 PM to 7:41 PM, Appellant's phone remained in the same location in St. Matthews. (R. 467). Law enforcement summarized the GPS information in a cell phone plot animation. (State's Exhibit #53 and #62). At the conclusion of trial, Appellant was convicted of every count except first degree assault and battery.

⁸ Wannamaker testified the name "Kese" referred to Appellant. (R. 227)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial judge.” State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 560, 575 S.E.2d 77, 82 (Ct. App. 2003). “The court’s decision will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law.” Id.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge did not err in denying Appellant's motion for a mistrial when Appellant did not preserve the issue for appeal because he expressly consented to the trial judge's curative instruction. Even if preserved, the trial judge's curative instruction cured any possible error. Finally, Appellant was not prejudiced by a single reference to Appellant's incarceration because of the overwhelming evidence submitted against Appellant at trial.

Appellant contends the trial judge erred by refusing to grant a mistrial when Shyrod Wannamaker, Appellant's codefendant, made an unsolicited comment that Appellant was in jail in April 2019. Appellant argues the State elicited Wannamaker's comment and that Wannamaker's remark was improper character evidence. Furthermore, Appellant argues the State failed to present competent evidence of Appellant's guilt. Appellant's argument fails for three reasons. First and foremost, Appellant has not preserved this issue for appeal. Although Appellant requested the trial judge declare a mistrial, Appellant did not object to the trial judge's proposed curative instruction. (R. 240-41, 247). Not only did Appellant fail to object to the curative instruction, but he expressly consented to it. (R. 247). Furthermore, Appellant waived any objection to the substance of Wannamaker's statement when he explicitly consented to a text message from Andre McFadden being admitted into evidence that said "[Appellant] n jail."(sic) (R. 231, 627). Even if this issue is preserved for appeal, Wannamaker's statement was entirely unsolicited and any prejudice that Appellant suffered from the statement was cured by the trial judge's curative instruction. Finally, even if the prejudice was not cured by the curative instruction, any error was entirely harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence presented against Appellant at trial.

Error Preservation

As an initial matter, this issue is not preserved for appellate review because Appellant expressly consented to the admission of evidence which indicated Appellant was incarcerated

and because Appellant failed to object to the trial judge's proposed curative instruction. In fact, Appellant expressly consented to the curative instruction. Therefore, this issue is not properly before this Court.

“A litigant cannot concede an issue at trial and then raise it on appeal.” CFRE LLC v. Greenville County Assessor, 395 S.C. 67, 81, 716 S.E.2d 877, 885 (2011). When a party consents to evidence being admitted, that party waives any issues as to the admissibility of that evidence on appeal. State v. Dicapua, 373 S.C. 452, 455, 646 S.E.2d 150, 152 (Ct. App. 2007). “No issue is preserved for appellate review if the objecting party accepts the judge's ruling and does not contemporaneously make an additional objection to the sufficiency of the curative charge or move for a mistrial.” State v. George, 323 S.C. 496, 510, 476 S.E.2d 903, 911-912 (1996). “Because a trial court's curative instruction is considered to cure any error regarding improper testimony, a party must contemporaneously object to a curative instruction as insufficient or move for a mistrial to preserve an issue for review.” State v. Patterson, 337 S.C. 215, 226, 522 S.E.2d 845, 851 (Ct. App. 1999).

Here, the State offered a series of text messages taken from McFadden's phone into evidence. One of the text messages sent from McFadden on January 24th read: “Kese n jail.” (R. 627). When the State moved to admit the text messages through Wannamaker, Appellant responded “No objection, Your Honor.” (R. 231, line 17). Shortly thereafter the State asked Wannamaker about an attempted armed robbery⁹ in April 2019. Appellant moved for a mistrial when Wannamaker noted that Appellant did not participate in the subsequent armed robbery because he was in jail. (R. 240). The trial judge proposed a curative instruction to remedy any potential prejudice to Appellant. (R. 246-47). After the trial judge read his proposed curative

⁹ Appellant previously told the trial judge that he wanted the jury to hear about the subsequent armed robbery. (R. 115-16).

instruction, Appellant responded by saying: “Okay.” (R. 247, line 3). Appellant not only failed to object to the curative instruction, but he expressly consented to it. Therefore, Appellant did not preserve this issue for appeal for two reasons. First, counsel for Appellant expressly consented to the admission of a text message that said Appellant was in jail. Second, Appellant did not object to the trial judge’s proposed curative instruction, but rather consented to it. Accordingly, this issue is not properly before this Court.

Curative Instruction

“A curative instruction is generally deemed to have cured any alleged error.” State v. Dial, 405 S.C. 247, 258, 746 S.E.2d 495, 500 (Ct. App. 2013). “If the trial judge sustains a timely objection to testimony and gives the jury a curative instruction to disregard the testimony, the error is deemed to be cured.” George, 323 S.C. at 510, 476 S.E.2d at 911-912. “A curative instruction to disregard incompetent evidence and not consider it during deliberation is deemed to have cured any alleged error in its admission.” State v. Walker, 366 S.C. 643, 658, 623 S.E.2d 122, 130 (Ct. App. 2005).

Here, the following exchange took place between the solicitor and Wannamaker during direct-examination:

Mr. Scott: Do you remember in April, three months after this when you and McFadden get busted by the West Columbia police?

Shyrod Wannamaker: Correct.

Mr. Scott: You-all tried to stick up another lady?

Shyrod Wannamaker: Yes, sir.

Mr. Scott: He wasn’t – [Appellant] wasn’t involved in that, was he?

Shyrod Wannamaker: No, sir. He was in jail.

(R. 240, lines 8-14). Appellant objected to Wannamaker's response and moved for a mistrial outside the presence of the jury. (R. 240-41). On appeal, Appellant argues the solicitor elicited improper evidence of Appellant's character. On the contrary, far from eliciting evidence of Appellant's incarceration, the solicitor was attempting to establish that Appellant was not involved with the subsequent attempted armed robbery. Appellant previously expressed a desire for the jury to hear about the subsequent attempted armed robbery; therefore, the solicitor was merely addressing an inevitable forthcoming issue in a way that actually benefitted Appellant. (R. 115-16). Wannamaker answered the solicitor's question but added the unsolicited detail that Appellant was incarcerated in April 2019.

Following Wannamaker's unsolicited remark, the trial judge denied Appellant's motion for a mistrial and proposed a curative instruction to which Appellant did not object. (R. 246-47). When the jury returned, the trial judge provided the following curative instruction:

The Court: Now just prior to the break, there were some questions asked of Mr. Wannamaker about an incident in April, you were involved in an incident in West Columbia and West Columbia police arrested you as a result of an attempted armed robbery or some incident over there, and there was a follow-up question about where was [Appellant], his answer was unresponsive to the question asked by the solicitor, so I'm gonna ask you to disregard his unresponsive answer. And I'm not gonna repeat it because then you would go I wonder why he did that. So the answer was not responsive, not relevant to you-all's decision-making which you-all have to do, but Mr. Wannamaker will be back on the stand.

(R. 251, lines 6-19). The trial judge's thorough curative instruction clearly informed the jury that they were to disregard Wannamaker's answer and not consider it in their deliberations.

Therefore, the curative instruction cured any potential error.

Lack of Prejudice and Harmless Error

"The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial judge." Thompson, 352 S.C. at 560, 575 S.E.2d at 82. "The court's decision will not be overturned on

appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law.” Id. “The power of a court to declare a mistrial ought to be used with the greatest caution under urgent circumstances, and for very plain and obvious causes” stated into the record by the trial judge. Id. “A mistrial should not be granted unless absolutely necessary.” State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 13, 515 S.E.2d 508, 514 (1999). Instead, the trial judge should exhaust other methods to cure possible prejudice before aborting a trial. Id. In order to receive a mistrial, the defendant must show error and resulting prejudice. Id.

“Whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case.” State v. Mitchell, 378 S.C. 305, 316, 662 S.E.2d 493, 499 (2008). “Harmless error analyses are fact-intensive inquiries and are not governed by a definite set of rules. State v. Jenkins, 412 S.C. 643, 651, 773 S.E.2d 906, 909 (2015). “Rather, appellate courts must determine the materiality and prejudicial character of the error in relation to the entire case.” Id. “[O]ur jurisprudence requires us not to question whether the State proved its case beyond a reasonable doubt, but whether beyond a reasonable doubt the trial error did not contribute to the guilty verdict.” State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 389-390, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012). “Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.” State v. Reeves, 301 S.C. 191, 193-94, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990).

Even if the curative instruction did not cure any possible error, the trial judge did not err in refusing to declare a mistrial because Appellant was not prejudiced by Wannamaker’s statement in light of the overwhelming evidence presented against Appellant. On appeal, Appellant asserts the State did not present competent evidence of Appellant’s guilt. (Initial Brief of Appellant 9-10). On the contrary, the State produced overwhelming evidence of Appellant’s guilt. Both of Appellant’s co-defendants testified Appellant participated in the planning and

execution of the robbery. (R. 204-06, 330-31). Wannamaker provided eyewitness testimony regarding what occurred inside Victim's house. Among other things, Wannamaker testified that Appellant: kicked in Victim's backdoor, found Victim's safe, forced Victim to open the safe, dumped the contents of the safe into a pillowcase, and assisted in taking and smashing Victim's phones. (R. 212-19). Furthermore, the State produced photographic evidence of Appellant celebrating with large quantities of cash along with McFadden and Wannamaker in the hours immediately after the robbery. (State's Exhibits #33, #36, #37, #38). The State also produced text messages from McFadden and Wannamaker that corroborated their testimony at trial. (R. 622-29). Although Appellant asserts that cell phone data indicating Appellant's phone remained in St. Matthews during the hours of the robbery exculpates Appellant, the data merely corroborates McFadden's testimony that Appellant left his cell phone in St. Matthews and did not take it with him to Irmo. (R. 339, State's Exhibits #53, #62). The jury rendered guilty verdicts against Appellant because of the aforementioned evidence; not because of a single reference to Appellant being incarcerated in April 2019. Appellant was not prejudiced by Wannamaker's statement and any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgments and convictions of the lower court should be affirmed.